Filed 11-28-2022

Page 1 of 20

FILED 11-28-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Appellate Case No. 2022AP1539-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-VS-

ROGER A. WOLF, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WOOD COUNTY, BRANCH I, THE HONORABLE GREGORY J. POTTER PRESIDING, TRIAL COURT CASE NO. 20-CT-363

BRIEF & APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MELOWSKI & SINGH, LLC

Dennis M. Melowski State Bar No. 1021187

524 South Pier Drive Sheboygan, Wisconsin 53081 Tel. 920.208.3800 Fax 920.395.2443 <u>dennis@melowskilaw.com</u>

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

WHETHER THE LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER WHO DETAINED MR. WOLF LACKED PROBABLE CAUSE TO ADMINISTER A PRELIMINARY BREATH TEST, AND IN SO DOING, THEREBY ALSO LACKED PROBABLE CAUSE TO ARREST HIM IN VIOLATION OF MR. WOLF'S FOURTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS?

<u>Trial Court Answered</u>: NO. The circuit court concluded that the officer in this case had probable cause to administer a preliminary breath test to Mr. Wolf, and ultimately probable cause to arrest him, because "the case law is clear in that looking at the totality of the circumstances when there is an accident coupled with an odor of alcohol, that's sufficient for a finding of probable cause." R52 at 4:12-16; D-App. at 104.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The Defendant-Appellant will NOT REQUEST oral argument as this appeal presents a single question of law based upon a set of uncontroverted facts. The issue presented herein is of a nature that can be addressed by the application of longstanding legal principles, the type of which would not be enhanced by oral argument.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Mr. Wolf will NOT REQUEST publication of this Court's decision as the common law authorities which set forth the standard for detaining an individual based upon anonymously tipped information are well-settled.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 2, 2020, Mr. Wolf was charged in Wood County with Operating a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant—Third Offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a), and Operating a Motor Vehicle with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration—Third Offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b). R4.

After retaining counsel, Mr. Wolf filed, *inter alia*, a motion to suppress evidence on the ground that the arresting officer in the instant case, Sgt. Nathan Dean of the Wood County Sheriff's Office, lacked probable cause to administer a preliminary breath test [hereinafter "PBT"] in violation of Wis. Stat. § 343.303, and thereby, also lacked probable cause to arrest him. R19. An evidentiary hearing was held on Mr. Wolf's motion on April 14, 2021. R24.

At the evidentiary hearing, the State offered the testimony of a single witness, Sgt. Dean. R24 at pp. 3-35. At the conclusion of the hearing, the court ordered the parties to submit additional briefs. R24 at 37:5-23. Based upon the court's order, the parties filed their supplemental briefs. R25; R26; R27.

Subsequently, the circuit court issued an oral decision at which it denied Mr. Wolf's motion, finding that because "the case law is clear in that looking at the totality of the circumstances when there is an accident coupled with an odor of alcohol, that's sufficient for a finding of probable cause." R52 at 4:12-16; D-App. at 103. The court then went on to observe that when "you couple that with the fact that the defendant himself made the admission that he had been drinking all day, that definitely puts it over the threshold." R52 at 4:12-19; D-App. at 104.

On June 21, 2022, Mr. Wolf entered a plea of no contest to the charge of operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration. R42 & R44. Based upon his change of plea, the court found Mr. Wolf guilty. R45; D-App. at 101-02.

It is from the adverse judgment of the circuit court that Mr. Wolf now appeals to this Court by Notice of Appeal filed on September 9, 2022. R55.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 23, 2020, Mr. Wolf, was detained in the Town of Cary, Wood County, by Sgt. Nathan Dean of the Wood County Sheriff's Office for having been involved in an accident in which his motorcycle struck a deer on an unlit road. R24 at 5:10-23; 7:4-6. After the accident, there is no dispute that Mr. Wolf had lost consciousness. R24 at 6:6-9; 19:1-5.

Sgt. Dean did *not* observe Mr. Wolf commit any traffic violations such as weaving within his lane, operating his vehicle recklessly, endangering the safety of other traffic, speeding, obstructing traffic, *etc.*, as he was dispatched to the scene after the accident had already occurred. R24 at 16:14-17. Similarly, a citizen witness to the accident did not aver that Mr. Wolf's motorcycle had crossed the centerline or drove in an erratic or otherwise unsafe manner. R24 at 16:14-21. In fact, upon further investigation, law enforcement officers discovered the deer carcass at the scene which Mr. Wolf had struck. R24 at 17:7-14. Sergeant Dean admitted that there was neither any witnesses nor any physical evidence which indicated that "this was an accident that could have been avoided." R24 at 17:7-21. Of further note, the citizen witness never made "any claim to [the sergeant] or anyone else present on the scene that he believed Mr. Wolf was impaired." R24 at 23:7-11.

Upon making contact with Mr. Wolf, it was apparent to Sgt. Dean that Mr. Wolf had suffered a head injury because evidence of significant bleeding covered portions of Mr. Wolf's head. R24 at 7:19-23; 18:15-17. Sgt. Dean also observed that Mr. Wolf had an odor of intoxicants emanating from his person, however, he did not note that Mr. Wolf had bloodshot eyes nor had slurred speech. R24 at 7:19-23. Additionally, Sgt. Dean thought that "it appeared maybe possibly [Mr. Wolf] urinated himself." R24 at 8:1-3.

Mr. Wolf was then questioned about how the accident occurred and he could not remember other than to inform the deputy that he was riding on his motorcycle with another male whose name he could not recall. R24 at 8:6-16. Sergeant Dean testified that persons who have a head injury and lost consciousness "can cause problems with the accuracy of the information they convey" R24 at 20:2-7. Sergeant Dean subsequently observed that Mr. Wolf's motorcycle was a single-seat bike. R24 at 8:15-16.

The sergeant asked Mr. Wolf whether he had been drinking, to which he replied that he had been drinking all day. R24 at 11:3-7. Unfortunately, Sgt. Dean never asked "Mr. Wolf what he meant by that" nor "went into details as far as what he meant" R24 at 29:16-20. There were no "follow-up[questions] as to how many [drinks Mr. Wolf] had, what types he had, the time of his last drink, *et cetera*." R24 at 29:21-24.

Sergeant Dean also observed what he believed to be a urine stain on Mr. Wolf's pants, however, he neither confirmed that with Mr. Wolf nor with the paramedics. R24 at 22:15-24. Sergeant Dean also conceded that he was unaware "that someone would urinate themselves when they're rendered unconscious in an event like this." R24 at 23:3-6.

Paramedics then took Mr. Wolf into an ambulance for the treatment of his injuries, and shortly thereafter, Sgt. Dean also entered the ambulance with his PBT device to obtain a PBT sample from Mr. Wolf. R24 at 12:3-7.

In the midst of the EMT's treatment of Mr. Wolf, Sgt. Dean exchanged places with one of the EMTs and, while Mr. Wolf's head was turned because he was speaking to an EMT, Sgt. Dean asked Mr. Wolf to submit to a PBT test. R24 at 23:22 to 24:2. Sergeant Dean conceded that "[i]t did not appear that [Mr. Wolf] had heard [him]" because he was speaking with the EMT treating him at the moment. R24 at 24:2. When Mr. Wolf finally turned his head to see that the deputy had taken a seat next to him, Sgt. Dean placed the PBT in front of Mr. Wolf's mouth and told him to provide a breath sample. R24 at 24:7-13.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue presented in this appeal is premised upon whether an undisputed set of facts rises to the level of establishing a reasonable suspicion to detain Mr. Wolf's vehicle. When assessing whether a particular set of facts satisfies a constitutional standard, this Court reviews the constitutional question *de novo*. *State v. Drogsvold*, 104 Wis. 2d 247, 256, 311 N.W.2d 243 (Ct. App. 1981).

ARGUMENT

I. THE LAW IN WISCONSIN AS IT RELATES TO PROBABLE CAUSE TO ADMINISTER A PRELIMINARY BREATH TEST UNDER WIS. STAT. § 343.303.

A. The Fourth Amendment in General.

The starting point for any analysis of the constitutionality of a seizure must begin with the foundations established by the Fourth Amendment itself. The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

U.S. Const. amend. IV. "The Fourth Amendment's purpose is to prevent arbitrary and oppressive interference by law enforcement officials with the privacy and personal security of individuals." *State v. Riechl*, 114 Wis. 2d 511, 515, 339 N.W.2d 127 (Ct. App. 1983). Capricious or arbitrary police action is not tolerated under the umbrella of the Fourth Amendment. "The basic purpose of this prohibition is to safeguard the privacy and security of individuals against arbitrary invasions by government officials." *State v. Boggess*, 115 Wis. 2d 443, 448-49, 340 N.W.2d 516 (1983); *see also Camara v. Municipal Court*, 387 U.S. 523, 528 (1967).

The Wisconsin Constitution provides coextensive protections against unreasonable searches and seizures under Article I, § 11. Wisconsin courts interpret the protections granted by Article 1, § 11 of Wisconsin's Constitution identically to those afforded by the Fourth Amendment. *See State v. Kramer*, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 18, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598; *State v. Phillips*, 218 Wis. 2d 180, ¶ 21, 577 N.W.2d 794 (1998).

Both federal and state courts have consistently held that "[c]onstitutional provisions for the security of persons and property should be **liberally construed**."

Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 647 (1961)(emphasis added), citing *Boyd v. United States*, 116 U.S. 616, 635 (1886).

A close and literal construction deprives [these protections] of half their efficacy, and leads to gradual depreciation of the right [to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures], as if it consisted more in sound than in substance. It is the duty of courts to be watchful for the constitutional rights of the citizen, and against any stealthy encroachments thereon.

Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 229 (1973)(emphasis added).

The foregoing authority does not stand alone as time and again the Supreme Court has consistently repeated that the Fourth Amendment "guaranties are to be **liberally construed to prevent impairment of the protection extended**." *Grau v. United States*, 287 U.S. 124, 127 (1932)(emphasis added). The High Court has admonished that "all owe the duty of vigilance for [the Fourth Amendment's] effective enforcement lest there shall be impairment of the rights for the protection of which it was adopted." *Go-Bart Importing Co. v. United States*, 282 U.S. 344, 357 (1931).

The Fourth Amendment is implicated in the instant case because it is wellsettled that "the taking of a breath sample is a search and seizure within the meanings of the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions, . . ." *County of Milwaukee v. Proegler*, 95 Wis. 2d 614, 623, 291 N.W.2d 608 (Ct. App. 1980), citing *Wood Mem'l Hosp., Inc. v. Baird*, 45 Wis. 2d 629, 173 N.W.2d 700 (1970), and *State v. Bentley*, 92 Wis. 2d 860, 286 N.W.2d 153 (Ct. App. 1979); *Skinner v. Railway Labor Executives' Assoc.*, 489 U.S. 602, 616-17 (1989).

Despite these stringent pronouncements, the circuit court nevertheless concluded that Sgt. Dean's actions in the present case were both constitutional and consistent with the standard established by Wis. Stat. § 343.303.

B. The "Probable Cause" Standard as It Relates to the Administration of a Preliminary Breath Test.

Typically, within the ambit of the Fourth Amendment, there are recognized three levels of encounter, namely: (1) the "simple encounter" for which the individual is afforded no constitutional protection because his or her movement is not restricted; (2) the investigatory detention, or *Terry*¹ stop, for which the officer must have a "reasonable suspicion" to detain the person; and (3) the custodial arrest which requires probable cause. *State v. Welsh*, 108 Wis. 2d 319, 321 N.W.2d 245 (1982); *Henry v. United States*, 361 U.S. 98 (1959).

¹*Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1 (1968).

In the context of the administration of a preliminary breath test [hereinafter "PBT"], however, there is a fourth standard employed beyond the three described above. In Wis. Stat. § 343.303—which authorizes the use of PBTs—the Wisconsin Legislature has created what could be characterized as a "special-circumstances" seizure which requires the application of a "hybrid" standard.

More specifically, § 343.303 provides that an officer who suspects an individual of operating while intoxicated may administer a preliminary breath test upon having "probable cause to believe that the person . . . has violated s. 346.63(1)." Wis. Stat. § 343.303 (2021-22). The "probable cause" referred to in § 343.303 does not, however, rise to the level of "probable cause to arrest" described above, but rather, has been interpreted to mean that "quantum of proof that is greater than the reasonable suspicion necessary to justify an investigative stop . . . but less than the level of proof required to establish probable cause for arrest." *County of Jefferson v. Renz*, 231 Wis. 2d 293, 317, 603 N.W.2d 541 (1999); *see also State v. Fischer*, 2010 WI 6, ¶ 5, 322 Wis. 2d 265, 778 N.W.2d 629. The notable and particular part of the *Renz* standard relevant to the inquiry in Mr. Wolf's case is whether there existed a "**proof that is greater than the reasonable suspicion necessary to** justify an investigative stop." Mr. Wolf believes, based upon the arguments presented hereinbelow, that no such standard was satisfied in the instant case.

As far as the standards related to reasonable suspicion and probable cause are concerned—and presumably any "hybrid" standard in between the two—the Wisconsin Supreme Court has reflected that the test to determine the constitutionality validity of the same "**focuses on the reasonableness of the governmental intrusion**." *State v. Guzy*, 139 Wis. 2d 663, 675, 407 N.W.2d 548 (1987)(emphasis added), quoting *United States v. Hensley*, 469 U.S. 221, 228 (1985).

II. APPLICATION OF THE LAW TO THE FACTS.

A. Preliminary Considerations.

Mr. Wolf does not doubt that the State will likely rebut much of the argument he proffers in Section II.B., *infra*, with what he believes is an over-utilized legal saw about how law enforcement officers are not obligated to consider or account for innocent explanations for the observations they make under the totality of the circumstances. *See, e.g., State v. Colstad*, 2003 WI App 25, 260 Wis. 2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394. The State will protest that the notion of a "totality" merely equates to

the notion that whatever circumstances the officer observes, if that particular "totality" adds up to a reasonable suspicion, probable cause, or presumably the hybrid *Renz* standard, it is sufficient to justify the action taken by the officer. Mr. Wolf believes that this is *not* the correct approach to take because: (1) it fails to acknowledge the overarching standard of reasonableness which is applicable to all Fourth Amendment questions; (2) flies in the face of the commonly understood definition of the word "totality"; and finally, (3) such a myopic approach to the definition of "totality" leads to absurd results. Each of these issues will be briefly examined below before Mr. Wolf turns to the facts of his case in particular.

First, when assessing whether the conduct of law enforcement officers is constitutional under the Fourth Amendment, "the 'touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness." Ohio v. Robinette, 519 U.S. 33, 39 (1996) (emphasis added), quoting Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991). Employing "reasonableness" as the overarching standard means that the actions taken by a law enforcement officer must be those which "warrant a man of reasonable caution" under the circumstances to proceed as they did. State v. Welsh, 108 Wis. 2d 319, 330, 321 N.W.2d 245 (1982) (quotation marks and citations omitted; emphasis added); Henry v. United States, 361 U.S. 98 (1959); Carroll v. United States, 267 U.S. 132 (1925). As a general rule, and as more fully described hereunder, Mr. Wolf posits that if the "touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness," it is patently unreasonable to always and only examine the facts which support a law enforcement officer's decision to act rather than considering all of the facts and circumstances known to the officer at the time he or she took the action at issue. For Fourth Amendment purposes, the Supreme Court has long recognized that the proper inquiry necessitates a consideration of "all the circumstances surrounding the encounter" between the officer and the citizen. Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 439 (1991) (examining whether law enforcement officers boarding a bus constitutes a "seizure").

Second, the common and accepted definition of "totality" is "the whole or entire amount of something; *with nothing left out.*"² Notably, looking at something only partially, as the State will likely ask this Court to do, would be considered an *antonym* for the concept of "totality." Such a view of the facts is not consistent with the very first word describing the "*totality* of the circumstances" test.

²https://www.britannica.com/dictionary/totality

Finally, the United States Supreme Court has condemned the approach of reviewing courts which adopt a "divide-and-conquer analysis" in which the facts that are "readily susceptible to an innocent explanation [are] entitled to 'no weight." *United States v. Arvizu*, 534 U.S. 266, 274 (2002). If this statement is true—that facts which are "innocent" in nature *are* entitled to some "weight"—then the lower court should have considered in its decision the facts of Mr. Wolf's case which mitigated against Sgt. Dean's belief that he had probable cause to administer a PBT, yet it did not.

The simplest method by which Mr. Wolf can make his point that "innocent facts" are deserving of some weight is by engaging in a hypothetical. For example, according to § 947.01(1), it is unlawful for a person to engage in "profane, boisterous, [or] unreasonably loud" conduct in a public place which tends to provoke a disturbance. Wis. Stat. § 947.01(1) (2021-22). Assume, arguendo, that local police receive a report from diners at a public café that a person sitting at the table next to them is shouting profanities. Clearly, this satisfies the "profane" and "unreasonably loud" elements of the disorderly conduct statute. A law enforcement officer arrives to investigate the complaint, and the minute she enters the café, she observes an individual bellowing the "F-word" (to use a euphemism). Examining this fact alone as the "totality" of what was observed, the suspect is destined to be arrested, and adopting what is likely to be the State's approach to the question presented in this appeal, it would be sufficient to justify the officer's actions in arresting the individual. Mr. Wolf would question, however, whether this action is reasonable if the narrow lens of the State's definition of "totality" was expanded to include the following fact, namely: the individuals seated at the table with the putative scofflaw informed the officer that the accused suffered from Tourette's Syndrome, symptoms of which include both disinhibition (difficulty inhibiting inappropriate thoughts and behaviors) and coprolalia (the unwelcome and unwanted utterances of words or phrases that are not appropriate).³ Mr. Wolf believes that it would be constitutionally unreasonable to arrest this hypothetical individual for suffering from a disease with which they never asked to be afflicted.

Without examining *all* the circumstances as *Bostick* (and other) Courts suggest, absurd results would follow. People suffering from Tourette's Syndrome would fear going out in public; persons suffering from Huntington's Corea (which causes uncontrollable movements and difficulty in mentation, *et al.*) could be

³https://tourette.org/resource/understanding-behavioral-symptoms-tourette-syndrome/

arrested for public intoxication; diabetics with acetone on their breath could be detained for field sobriety tests if they happen to be stopped for speeding; considerate homeowners who collect the mail for their vacationing neighbors could be arrested for a violation of § 943.204(2) (theft of mail); *etc.*—if, in each of the foregoing examples, an examination of the "reasonableness" of the officers' decisions was predicated solely upon those facts which *supported* the officers' decisions to detain and/or arrest rather than considering *all* of the information the officers respectively received from the parents of the putative disorderly person that she suffered from Tourette's, the fact that the Huntington's patient expressly informed the officer of her condition, the fact that the officer learned that the driver was a diabetic, or the fact that the neighbor collecting mail was asked to do so by the vacationing recipient. These examples provide the proof of why the term "totality" should encompass an examination of *more than* simply those facts which tend to support an officer's conclusions when examining whether the officer's actions were constitutionally reasonable.

Based upon the above and foregoing authority, Mr. Wolf proffers that the appropriate approach to the question involved in his appeal must consider facts and observations *other than* the two facts—the odor of an intoxicant and a motorcycle accident—upon which the lower court relied.

B. The Totality of Mr. Wolf's Circumstances.

The starting point for the analysis of the issue presented by Mr. Wolf in this appeal must be one of a presumption of innocence. That is, when first approached by Sgt. Dean, simply because the instant matter involved a deer-vehicle accident, it cannot either summarily or instantly be presumed that alcohol may have been involved. Mr. Wolf informed the lower court in both his initial motion and reply brief that in 2019, the last year for which complete statistics were available at the time he filed his motion, there were 18,414 crashes involving deer in Wisconsin, and 20,183 the year before.⁴ Of these, 116 occurred in Wood County alone in 2019.⁵ Not all of the foregoing accidents were the result of impaired driving, and in fact,

⁴https://wisconsindot.gov/Pages/about-wisdot/newsroom/news-

rel/100720FallDeer.aspx#:~:text=Last%20year%20in%20Wisconsin%2C%20there,to%20record %20the%20most%20crashes.

⁵https://wisconsindot.gov/Documents/about-wisdot/newsroom/news-rel/050720deercrashes.pdf

the vast majority, over 66%, did not involve alcohol.⁶ These statistics alone make it far more likely than not that Mr. Wolf's motorcycle-deer crash did *not* involve alcohol.

With the foregoing in mind, attention can now be turned to what other factors, Sgt. Dean may have relied upon when reaching his conclusion that probable cause existed to administer a preliminary breath test. The first factor to examine is the ostensible odor of intoxicants emanating from Mr. Wolf's person. As this Court is aware, it is *not* illegal in Wisconsin to consume intoxicating beverages and operate a motor vehicle. What *is* illegal is to consume a sufficient amount of an intoxicating beverage and become less able to exercise the steady hand and clear judgment necessary to safely operate a motor vehicle. The court of appeals recognized as much in *State v. Gonzalez*, 2014 WI App 71, Case No. 2013AP2535-CR, Wisc. App. LEXIS 379 (Ct. App. May 8, 2014) (unpublished),⁷ when it observed that:

Not every person who has consumed alcoholic beverages is 'under the influence'" Wis JI—Criminal 2663. Instead, reasonable suspicion of intoxicated driving generally requires reasonable suspicion that the suspect is "[u]nder the influence of an intoxicant . . . to a degree which renders him or her incapable of safely driving. *See* Wis. Stat. §§ 346.63(1)(a) and 346.01(1).

Gonzalez, 2014 WI App 71, ¶ 13. The *Gonzalez* court continued:

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