Page 1 of 15

FILED 02-09-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Appellate Case No. 2022AP1539-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Roger A. Wolf, Jr.,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WOOD COUNTY, BRANCH 1, THE HONORABLE GREGORY J. POTTER PRESIDING, TRIAL COURT CASE NO. 20-CT-363

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Submitted by:

Jennifer C. Zima Assistant District Attorney Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent Wisconsin State Bar No. 1105352

Wood County District Attorney's Office 400 Market Street P.O. Box 8095 Wisconsin Rapids, WI 54495-8095 (715) 421-8515

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

ARGUMENT

Sergeant Dean Had the Requisite Amount of Probable Cause for the Administration of a Preliminary Breath Test (PBT)

An investigative stop may be supported by reasonable suspicion even when the officer did not observe the driver violate any law. *State v. Anagnos*, 2012 WI 64, 341 Wis.2d 576, 815 N.W.2d 675; *See State v. Post*, 301 Wis.2d 1 ¶ 24, 733 N.W.2d 634. ("[I]t is clear that driving need not be illegal in order to give rise to reasonable suspicion" because such a standard "would allow investigatory stops only when there was probable cause to make an arrest."); State v. Waldner, 206 Wis.2d 51, 57, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996) ("The law allows a police officer to make an investigatory stop based on observations of lawful conduct so long as the reasonable inferences drawn from the lawful conduct are that criminal activity is afoot.")

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 343.305 an officer who suspects an individual of operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated may administer a PBT to that individual upon having "probable cause" to believe that the person violated Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1). The probable cause standard in this case is different from that of probable cause to arrest. It does not rise to the level that probable cause to arrest demands. Rather, this form of probable cause is interpreted to mean "quantum of proof that is greater than the reasonable suspicion necessary to justify an investigative stop." County of Jefferson v. Renz, 231 Wis.2d 293, 317 and State v. Fisher, 2010 WI 6 para 5. "An officer may request a PBT to help determine whether there is probable cause to arrest a driver suspected of an OWI, and the PBT result will be admissible to show probable cause for an arrest, if the arrest is challenged. See Renz, 231 Wis.2d at 316, 603 N.W.2d 541.

In *Renz*, the defendant was stopped because of loud exhaust coming from his vehicle. *Id*. at 296, 603 N.W.2d 541. During

the initial conversation, the officer noted a strong odor of alcohol coming from inside the vehicle. Id. The defendant admitted to drinking three beers earlier in the evening and, when asked, agreed to perform field sobriety tests. Id. at 296-97, 603 N.W.2d 541. The defendant recited the alphabet correctly, his speech was not slurred, and he exhibited only one of four possible clues of intoxication in the one-legged stand test and two of eight possible clues of intoxication in the heel-to-toe test. Id. at 297-98, 603 N.W.2d 541. However, he was not able to touch the tip of his nose with his left finger during the finger-to-nose test.¹ Based on these observations, the officer administered a PBT, the results of which were later challenged on grounds of lack of probable cause. Id. at 299, 603 N.W.2d 541.

In addressing the defendant's argument, the Supreme Court addressed the purpose of the PBT which is "to help determine whether there are grounds for arrest." Id. at 304, 603 N.W.2d 541. In Renz, the Court found that given the mixed results and because the defendant "was able to substantially complete all of the tests," the officer was in an ambiguous area between reasonable suspicion to stop and probable cause for an arrest

¹ The *Renz* court found sufficient probable cause to request a PBT even without the results of the horizontal gaze nystagmus test during which the defendant exhibited all six clues for intoxication. Renz, 231 Wis.2d at 317 n. 15, 603 N.W.2d 541.

which justified giving the PBT. Id. at 316-17, 603 N.W.2d 541. The *Renz* Court observed that "[t]he officer was faced with exactly the sort of situation in which a PBT proves extremely useful in determining whether there is probable cause for an OWI arrest." Id. at 317, 603 N.W.2d 541.

In State v. Tadych, 2009AP1911, filed January 20, 2010, 2010 WL 1741118, (unpublished) a RULE 809 persuasive value case, the defendant argued (1) that the trial court erred in denying his motion to suppress evidence based on lack of sufficient probable cause to believe Tadych had violated § 346.63 prior to requesting preliminary breath test (PBT); and (2) that the results of the preliminary breath test were erroneously admitted into evidence at the motion hearing. The Court concluded that the arresting officer had the requisite degree of probable cause to request a PBT. The Court further concluded that the results of the PBT were appropriate admitted for purposes of establishing probable cause to arrest. The Court upheld the trial court's ruling and affirmed judgment.

In Tadych, on April 26, 2008 the officer involved was dispatched to a rollover accident and when he arrived on scene located a vehicle overturned in a ditch. Id. at \P 3. There were no occupants in the vehicle or at the scene but the registration came back to Tadych. Id. The officer proceeded to

Tadych's residence only to learn from Tadych's sister that Tadych was at the hospital being treated. Id. The officer arrived at the hospital and located Tadych. Id. at \P 4. When asked if he was the driver of the vehicle and what caused his vehicle to enter the ditch, Tadych stated that he had swerved to avoid a deer. Id. During this exchange, the officer noticed a "slight odor of intoxicant" on Tadych's breath and asked whether Tadych had been drinking. Id. Tadych did respond that he had been drinking. Id. The officer did not request field sobriety testing because of the medical treatment Tadych was receiving. Id. The officer informed Tadych that "he would be requesting him to take a PBT, a preliminary breath test, to kind of gauge where he was at." Tadych complied and the result indicated a PBT of .10. The officer arrested Tadych for operating while under the influence of an intoxicant. Id.

In Tadych, the first argument arises from Wis. Stat. § 343.303, which states that before an officer administers a PBT, the officer must have "probable cause to believe that the person: has operated while intoxicated in violation of Wis.

Stat. § $346.63.^2$ Tadych then cites to the correct "quantum of proof" language given in *Renz*. Tadych contended that the facts did not rise to the requisite proof required. However, the Court found that the trial court made specific findings as to the facts relevant to its determination of probable cause to administer a PBT which included the fact of an accident, the fact that Tadych indicated a reason for the accident, the odor of intoxicants, and Tadych's admission to drinking. Tadych at ¶ 9. Tadych attempted to argue that the facts in the case fell short to those in *Renz*, and the Court disagreed.³ *Id*. Tadych argued that he was not in the ambiguous area-that the quantum of proof was not greater than needed for reasonable suspicion, that there were not sufficient facts to give rise to the required degree of probable cause for a PBT. *Id*. at ¶ 12.

² WISCONSIN STATUTE § 343.303 provides in relevant part:

Preliminary breath screening test. If a law enforcement officer has probable cause to believe that the person is violating or has violated s. 346.63(1) or (2m)... or s. 346.63(2)... the officer, prior to an arrest, may request the person to provide a sample of his or her breath for a preliminary breath screening test using a device approved by the defendant for this purpose. The result of this preliminary screening test may be used by the law enforcement officer for the purpose of deciding whether or not the person shall be arrested for a violation of s. 346.63(1), (2m), (5), or (7)... and whether or not to require or request chemical tests as authorized under s. 343.305(3). The result of the preliminary breath screening test shall not be admissible in any action or proceeding except to show probable cause for an arrest, if the arrest is challenged, or to prove that a chemical test was properly required or requested of a person under s. 343.305(3)....

³ Tadych also pointed to the facts presented in *State v. Colstad*, 2003 WI App 25, 260 Wis.2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394, and *State v. Begicevic*, 2004 WI App 57, 270 Wis.2d 675, 678 N.W.2d 293, in support of his argument that the officer needed more "indicators of intoxication" to reach the level of probable cause necessary to administer a PBT. The *Tadych* Court reviewed those cases and the facts did not alter their conclusion that the facts in this case supplied the officer with enough probable cause consistent with *County of Jefferson v. Renz*, 231 Wis.2d 293, 603 N.W.2d 541 (1999) to administer a PBT.

However, the Court in *Tadych* concluded that the rollover accident and odor of intoxicants coupled with the admission of drinking were "sufficient to provide an officer with not only reasonable suspicion to believe that Tadych may have committed a crime, but also a quantum of proof greater than that." *Id.*; *See also Renz* at 317, 603 N.W.2d 541

In this case, Sergeant Dean's contact with the defendant initially began because the defendant was involved in an accident and Sgt. Dean was dispatched to that location. R24 at 5:10-23; 7:4-6. It is true that Sgt. Dean did not observe the defendant commit any traffic violations as he was dispatched to the crash after it already occurred. R24 at 16:14-17. On scene, the defendant indicated that his motorcycle struck a deer. Id. The citizen witness on scene did not mention bad driving behaviors from the defendant has he passed him coming the opposite direction to Sgt. Dean. R24 at 16:14-21. When Sqt. Dean made contact with the defendant he noted bleeding on the defendant's head. R24 at 7:19-23; 18:15-17. Sgt. Dean also indicated at that time, when he initially made contact with the defendant, that there was an odor of intoxicants emanating from his person. R24 at 7:19-23. Emergency responders arrived on scene soon after Sqt. Dean's arrival. When asked about how the accident occurred the defendant also stated that he could

not remember but told Sqt. Dean that someone else was on the motorcycle with him. R24 at 8:6-16. Sqt. Dean observed that the motorcycle was a single-seat bike. R24 at 8:15-16. Sgt. Dean did mention during his testimony that individuals who have a head injury "cause [have] problems with the accuracy of the information they convey ... " but also indicated that being the reason he did not make mention of the defendant's speech or physical state for indicators of impairment. R24 at 20:2-7. When Sgt. Dean asked the defendant whether he had been drinking, the defendant replied that he had been drinking all day. R24 at 11:3-7. It is important to note that EMT's arrived on scene rather quickly and Sgt. Dean did not have an unlimited amount of time to ask follow up questions as the defense proposes. The defendant also had a wet mark around his groin area that Sqt. Dean thought could be a urine stain but this was not confirmed on scene. R24 at 22:15-24. EMT's then took the defendant into the ambulance a short time later and Sqt. Dean administered the PBT before the defendant was transported to the hospital. R24 at 12:3-7.

The facts of this case are closely related to that in *Tadych*. The reason for dispatch in this case was for a vehicle crash involving a deer. The same occurred in *Tadych*. It is interesting that a majority of the defense's argument deals

with innocent explanations when they state in their own brief that the defendant could not remember how the accident in this case occurred other than striking a deer. R24 at 8:6-16. In both cases the defendant's obtained medical assistance for their injuries. Additionally, both defendant's made an admission to drinking. And although the defense argues that Sgt. Dean did not ask any follow up questions regarding the drinking he also had the odor of intoxicants coupled with the defendant's response. Tadych also had an odor of intoxicants coming from his person. Sgt. Dean did not instantly presume that alcohol was involved as the defense contends. Sqt. Dean observed an odor of intoxicants coming from the defendant's person. Sgt. Dean put the indicators he was presented with together and came to the determination that probable cause existed to administer a PBT. The "indicators of impairment" in this case were laid out by the trial court in its determination that the requisite probable cause existed for Sqt. Dean to administer a PBT. The facts in this case also do not fall short in a comparison to Renz. The facts in this case provided Sgt. Dean with the ambiguous area discussed in Renz and although Sqt. Dean had enough, by law, to administer the PBT once he obtained the PBT that cleared any ambiguities and provided probable cause to arrest for an OWI offense. The trial court's

findings in this case pointed to the totality of the circumstances presented in the form of testimony in this case and based on the facts presented including the accident, the odor, and admission to drinking the court correctly found, based in law, that Sgt. Dean obtained the quantum of proof necessary to administer a PBT to the defendant.

CONCLUSION

The circuit court was not clearly erroneous in its denial of the defendant's motion to suppress evidence. This Court should deny the appeal and uphold the ruling of the circuit court.